
 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
August 5, 2019 

6:00 p.m. 
Commissioner’s Meeting Room – Ground Floor Ste. 16 

MONTICELLO, GEORGIA 
 

I. Call to Order (6:00 p.m.)                                  
NAME PRESENT ABSENT LATE ARRIVED 

DISTRICT 1 – CARL PENNAMON, CHAIR     
DISTRICT 2 – BRUCE HENRY, VICE-CHAIR     
DISTRICT 3 – DON JERNIGAN     
DISTRICT 4 – GERALD STUNKEL     
DISTRICT 5  - DOUG LUKE     
  
 II.     Pledge of Allegiance –       

III.    Invocation – District 5 
         
 IV.    Approval of Agenda 
                    
 V.      Consent Agenda –  
Approval of Minutes: 

 Work Session Minutes, May 23, 2019 
 Called Meeting Minutes, May 30, 2019 
 Public Hearing Minutes, June 20, 2019, 10:00 a.m. 
 Called Meeting and Public Hearing Minutes, June 20, 2019 
 Called Meeting Minutes, June 27, 2019 
 Regular Meeting Minutes July 1, 2019 
 Called Meeting  Minutes, July 11, 2019 

 
2.   Check Register – Check #’s 55646 - 55937 
 

VI.   Public Hearing  
 
Public Hearings are conducted to allow public comments on specific advertised issues such as rezoning, 
ordinances, policy development and other legislative actions to be considered by the County 
Commissioners.  Following the public hearing, the Board of Commissioners will take action on each 
item presented below.  
 

Nuisance Party/Nuisance Party Location Ordinance - First Reading 
 
 
 

 
 
 

VII. County Commissioner Items 



 

 

VIII. Presentations/Delegations –  
Presentation/Delegations allows scheduled speakers to address the Commission for not more than ten 
(10) minutes on specific topics or for recognition of citizens,  county employees or other events by the 
Commissioners.   

 
IX.   Regular Agenda 
 
Old Business:   

None  
 

New Business: 
1. Alcohol License application – Retail sales for Beer Hwy 16 Food Mart (formerly Sac-O-Suds) 
      Applicant- Ahmed Merchant, Corporation Name: Sean Hwy 16 Properties LLC 
2. 911 Authority Phone System Update 
3. Approval to Advertise for Board Appointments: Central Georgia Region 5 Emergency Medical Services 

Council and Oconee Community Service Board  
4. Senior Center Budget Amendments for FY 2019 
5. Intergovernmental Agreement – Board of Registrars of Jasper County and the City of Monticello 
6. Recreation Department Soft Drinks Marketing Proposals 
7. 2020 LMIG Application 
 

 
 X.   County Attorney Items 
 
 XI.   County Manager Update 

 
XII.   Citizen Comments  

The Citizens Comments section of the Agenda allows citizens who sign up to address the Commission for 
not more than three (3) minutes on specific topics.   The County Attorney will keep time.  Please be 
courteous of the 3 minute time limit. 

 
XIII. Executive Session 
        
Consultation with County attorney to discuss pending or potential litigation as provided by O.C.G.A.  
§50-14-2(1); Discussion of the future acquisition of real   estate as provided by O.C.G.A. §50-14-3(4); 
and, discussion on employment, compensation, or periodic evaluation of county employees as provided 
in O.C.G.A. § 50-14-3(6)  
 

TO BE HELD 
   XIV. Adjournment  
 
  



 

 

Consent Agenda – Item 1 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:  August 5, 2019 
 
Subject:  Approval of Minutes 
 
Summary: 
Minutes have been completed for the Jasper County Board of Commissioners: 
 

 Work Session Minutes, May 23, 2019 
 Called Meeting Minutes, May 30, 2019 
 Public Hearing Minutes, June 20, 2019, 10:00 a.m. 
 Called Meeting and Public Hearing Minutes, June 20, 2019 
 Called Meeting Minutes, June 27, 2019 
 Regular Meeting Minutes July 1, 2019 
 Called Meeting  Minutes, July 11, 2019 

 
Background: 
 
 
Cost:  $0 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
Approve minutes for:  
 

 Work Session Minutes, May 23, 2019 
 Called Meeting Minutes, May 30, 2019 
 Public Hearing Minutes, June 20, 2019, 10:00 a.m. 
 Called Meeting and Public Hearing Minutes, June 20, 2019 
 Called Meeting Minutes, June 27, 2019 
 Regular Meeting Minutes July 1, 2019 
 Called Meeting  Minutes, July 11, 2019 

  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes: May 23, 2019– Work Session  
 

  Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

May 23, 2019 

Work Session Minutes 

6:00 P.M. 

Comm. Pennamon called the work session to order at 6:00 p.m. 

Pledge of Allegiance:   

Invocation: Commissioner Doug Luke 

Commissioners Present: Chairman, Carl Pennamon, Bruce Henry, Don Jernigan, and Vice-Chairman, Gerald 
Stunkel, Doug Luke 

Work Session: 

Mike Benton noted that the revenue did not change. The 350,376. The 439,601 is not in the tentative budget 
which is additional request. Of this 247,916 represents 11 departments that requested increases.  

Jernigan- We have to be consistent with the pay raises.  

Comm. Pennamon noted we should decide as a board what percentage we are going to put across the board. 

Comm. Pennamon suggested we go with the $10,774,670 for now allow staff to incorporate pay increases 
proportionately. At that point we can see what else can be added into the budget using roughly a half million 
dollars of the fund balance.  

Comm. Luke questioned if we can use SPLOST to fund some tractors.  

Mr. Benton noted it takes about 8 weeks to get around the county to cut all of the grass.  

Comm. Pennamon ask staff to incorporate the two public works positions and rework the budget.  

Comm. Pennamon noted that he spoke with Beth Ethison and she said that as long as we have a Capital Plan in 
our CIE we can use Impact Fees and distribute as we see fit.  

Comm. Pennamon declared the Work Session closed at 6:42 pm 

___________________________ 

Carl Pennamon, Chairman 

 

___________________________ 

Sharon S. Robinson, Clerk 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes: May 30, 2019– Work Session 
 

  Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

May 30, 2019 

Work Session Minutes 

5:00 P.M. 

Comm. Pennamon called the work session to order at 5:00 p.m. 

Pledge of Allegiance:   

Invocation: Commissioner Stunkel 

Commissioners Present: Chairman, Carl Pennamon, Vice-Chairman, Bruce Henry, Don Jernigan, 
and Gerald Stunkel.  

Work Session: 

Mr. Benton suggested that we start with the consolidated budget.  

Chairman Pennamon noted Staff reviewed the projected revenue which increased to $10,691,453 
with a tentative budget of $10,774,670.  

Commissioner Henry questioned whether the rebates that had been discussed earlier with Kelly 
Fox factored into the projected revenue.  

Mr. Benton confirmed that they were. 

Mr. Benton noted the board asked for the additional request that was not included in the tentative 
budget, the tentative budget of $10,774,670 and the original request was $12,005,618 that is 
including capital expenditures.  

Chairman Pennamon noted it was the consensus of the board that we would use 75% of the 
projected Fund Balance for 2019 ($441,000).  

Commissioner Jernigan noted a 3% COLA across the board would be an increase of $143,000. 
The request from EMS-Fire Rescue positions ($3), looking at increasing the CDL drivers ($3) in 
order to attract potential employees since we are down so many. That increase would put us at an 
increase of $399,000. The health department increase is not addressed.  

Mr. Benton noted that the Health Board approved their budget for 2020. They moved forward as 
if we are staying flat.  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes: May 30, 2019– Work Session 
 

Ms. Robinson noted the starting rate for CDL drivers is $13.50 then goes to 13.91 after the 
probationary period.  

Chairman Pennamon noted we should put x amount of dollars for pay increases for the next year 
and then get someone in to do a salary (pay) study. We cannot give it all at one time. Not give 
the full raises right away.  

Chairman Pennamon suggested all eight CDL positions will get the increase in the $2/hr. 
scenario.  

Chairman Pennamon questioned the $12,000 for fuel for Sheriff Department.  

Commissioner Henry questioned if additional cars cause for additional fuel cost.  

Give the Sheriff’s department 4% and let the Sheriff’s department and Public Works use it as 
they see fit.  

Commissioner Henry noted with the 4% that will be $190,500. 

Chairman Pennamon noted 4% for increases for department. Plus cost of adding two employees 
to Public Works will be less than the $332,000. Two mowers and cost of operation $105,000.  

Mr. Benton noted $44,314 will be the capital expenditure budget.  

Chairman Pennamon noted DCA must approve amendments for the Impact Fees- will not 
happen until October. A work session will be called to discuss Impact Fee structure once the 
budget is complete.  

There was a discussion regarding the accounting software.  

Commissioner Pennamon noted we started a capital account when we started getting money 
from JDA; we have to start using the capital money.  

Chairman Pennamon declared the Work Session closed at 6:08 pm 

 

___________________________ 

Carl Pennamon, Chairman 

 

___________________________ 

Sharon S. Robinson, Clerk 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes June 20, 2019 – 10:00 A.M. Public Hearing  
 

  Jasper County Board of Commissioners 
June 20, 2019 

Public Hearing Minutes 
10:00 A.M. 

 

Comm. Pennamon called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. 

Pledge of Allegiance: 

Consent Agenda: None 
 

Public Hearing: FY 2020 Budget and 2019 Millage Rate 
 
Commissioner Pennamon stated the current as well as proposed budgets for all departments.  
  

Department  Current Proposed

BOC            219,561  236,535 

EXECUTIVE            194,229  200,520 

ELECTIONS              28,942  28,942 

REGISTRAR              59,363  64,678 

FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION            125,581  127,961 

HR            103,055  105,272 

TAX COMMISSIONER            210,266  217,282 

TAX ASSESSOR            283,851  324,298 

GOVERNMENT BUILDINGS            162,800  164,800 

SUPERIOR COURT            360,574  371,644 

DISTRICT ATTORNEY              50,018  52,132 

MAGISTRATE COURT            109,938  115,843 

PROBATE COURT            195,591  189,859 

JUVENILE COURT                5,000  5,000 

COURTS OTHER COSTS            123,124  105,246 

SHERIFF         2,292,221  2,398,768 

JAIL            846,945  987,782 

COURTHOUSE SECURITY              98,828  113,120 

FIRE RESCUE         1,071,689  1,138,770 

CORONER              25,470  25,688 

ANIMAL CONTROL            133,053  153,057 

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT              12,566  15,466 

ROADS AND BRIDGES         1,772,857  1,935,215 

RECREATION            248,981  258,805 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes June 20, 2019 – 10:00 A.M. Public Hearing  
 

SENIOR CENTER            225,174  236,074 

COUNTY EXTENSION              47,655  48,840 

PLANNING AND ZONING            183,605  197,987 

Total  9,190,937 9,819,584

Agencies/Component Units  929,974 932,952

Debt Service  241,149 293,922

Total Agencies & Debt Services  1,171,123 1,226,874

Operating Expenditures  10,362,060 11,046,458

General Fund Capital Expenditures  96,100 44,314

Operating & Capital Expenditures  10,458,160 11,090,772

Capital Fund Transfer   93,663

Grand Total General Fund  10,458,160 11,184,435
 
Millage Rate- Rollback                      15.412 
FY 2020 Projected Revenue               $10,812,497 
FY 2020 Tentative Budget  $11,184,435 
Difference    $371,938 which will come from the Fund Balance 
 
The hospital millage rate will be .857. 
 
Citizens Comments: None 
 
 
Adjourn: 
Comm. Pennamon declared the public hearing closed at 10:14 am.  
 

___________________________ 

Carl Pennamon, Chairman 

 

___________________________ 

Clerk, Sharon Robinson 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Called Meeting Minutes June 20, 2019 – Public Hearing – 6:00 PM  

  Jasper County Board of Commissioners 
June 20, 2019 

Called Meeting Minutes 
6:00 P.M. 

 

Comm. Pennamon called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

Commissioners Present: Chairman, Carl Pennamon, Vic-Chairman, Bruce Henry, Don Jernigan, Gerald 
Stunkel,  

Staff Present: Mike Benton, County Manager, Sharon Robinson, Clerk, Finance Director, Dennis Pate, and 
County Attorney, David Ozburn 

Pledge of Allegiance: 

Invocation - Commissioner Pennamon- District 1 

Approval Agenda: Commissioner Henry motioned that the board approves the agenda as presented, the motion 
was seconded by Commissioner Jernigan, passed unanimously.  

Public Hearing: FY 2020 Budget and 2019 Millage Rate 
Commissioner Henry motioned to go into the Public Hearing for the budget at 6:02 p.m., Commissioner Stunkel 
seconded, passed unanimously.  
 
Commissioner Pennamon stated the current as well as proposed budgets for all departments.  
  

Department  Current Proposed

BOC            219,561  236,535 

EXECUTIVE            194,229  200,520 

ELECTIONS              28,942  28,942 

REGISTRAR              59,363  64,678 

FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION            125,581  127,961 

HR            103,055  105,272 

TAX COMMISSIONER            210,266  217,282 

TAX ASSESSOR            283,851  324,298 

GOVERNMENT BUILDINGS            162,800  164,800 

SUPERIOR COURT            360,574  371,644 

DISTRICT ATTORNEY              50,018  52,132 

MAGISTRATE COURT            109,938  115,843 

PROBATE COURT            195,591  189,859 

JUVENILE COURT                5,000  5,000 

COURTS OTHER COSTS            123,124  105,246 

SHERIFF         2,292,221  2,398,768 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Called Meeting Minutes June 20, 2019 – Public Hearing – 6:00 PM  

JAIL            846,945  987,782 

COURTHOUSE SECURITY              98,828  113,120 

FIRE RESCUE         1,071,689  1,138,770 

CORONER              25,470  25,688 

ANIMAL CONTROL            133,053  153,057 

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT              12,566  15,466 

ROADS AND BRIDGES         1,772,857  1,935,215 

RECREATION            248,981  258,805 

SENIOR CENTER            225,174  236,074 

COUNTY EXTENSION              47,655  48,840 

PLANNING AND ZONING            183,605  197,987 

Total  9,190,937 9,819,584

Agencies/Component Units  929,974 932,952

Debt Service  241,149 293,922

Total Agencies & Debt Services  1,171,123 1,226,874

Operating Expenditures  10,362,060 11,046,458

General Fund Capital Expenditures  96,100 44,314

Operating & Capital Expenditures  10,458,160 11,090,772

Capital Fund Transfer   93,663

Grand Total General Fund  10,458,160 11,184,435
 
Millage Rate- Rollback                      15.412 
FY 2020 Projected Revenue               10,812,497 
FY 2020 Tentative Budget  11,184,435 
Difference    371,938 which will come from the Fund Balance 
 
The hospital millage rate will be .857. 
 
Comm. Jernigan made motion to close the Public Hearing at 6:07 p.m., Comm. Henry seconded; passed 
unanimously.  
 
County Commissioner Items: 
Commissioner Henry noted that Aikenton Road needs some repair work done.  
 
Commissioner Pennamon noted that he requested a quote for the flower beds at the Health Department. 
Wildfire gave two quotes the first $280 for just raking the pine straw back and killing the weeds, the other for 
$480 pulling the pine straw back, killing the weeds, putting down more pine straw. He asked Mike Benton 
about getting someone to clean around the house that’s on the property as well. There are some trees that need 
cutting.  
 
Presentation/Delegations: None 
 
Regular Agenda: 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Called Meeting Minutes June 20, 2019 – Public Hearing – 6:00 PM  

Old Business: 
 
FY 2020 Employee Health Insurance Coverage - Kelly Fox discussed the Employee Insurance Renewal; he 
recommended to move forward with the ABA which is now a 2% increase. The budget for the HRA function of 
the plan is $43,000, we have spent $16,800. We were looking at a minimum of $150,000 in reserves in our Loss 
Fund, we have a balance of $179,526 as of last week. ABA raised the rate by 8%. There is a small increase in 
the Humana products as well.  
 
Commissioner Henry made motion to approve the following insurance programs for FY 2020; ABA RBP for 
Employee Health Insurance; Humana for Basic Life; Humana for Volunteer Coverage of Dental and Vision; No 
change in the Employee Participation Payroll Deductions based on the recommendations by Kelly Fox. 
Commissioner Jernigan seconded, passed unanimously.  
 
Commissioner Jernigan made motioned to change the AFLAC products to TransAmerica. Commissioner 
Stunkel seconded, passed unanimously.  
 
New Business: None 
County Attorney Items: None 
County Manager Update: None 
Citizen Comments: None 
Executive Session: None 
 
Adjournment: 
Commissioner Jernigan motioned to adjourn the meeting at 6:28 p.m., Commissioner Stunkel seconded, passed 
unanimously.  
 

___________________________ 

Carl Pennamon, Chairman 

 

___________________________ 

Clerk, Sharon Robinson 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes June 27, 2019 – Called Meeting  
 

  Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

June 27, 2019 

Called Meeting Minutes 

6:00 P.M. 

Comm. Pennamon called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

Commissioners Present: Chairman, Carl Pennamon, Vic-Chairman, Bruce Henry, Don Jernigan, Gerald 
Stunkel, and Doug Luke (arrived late) 

Staff Present: Mike Benton, County Manager, Finance Director, Dennis Pate, Sharon Robinson, HR Director, 
and County Attorney, David Ozburn.  

Pledge of Allegiance: 

Invocation: 
Bruce Henry, District 2 
 
Agenda Approval: 
Comm. Jernigan made motion to approve the agenda as presented, Comm. Henry seconded; passed 
unanimously. 
 
Consent Agenda:  None 
 
Public Hearing: None 
 
Commissioner’s Items: 
 
Jernigan- None 
 
Henry- Gave compliments to the public works department for doing a great job repairing a culvert on Midway 
Road.  

Stunkel – None 

Pennamon- Noted that Bishop Curry is inviting all commissioners to a conference that is being held by 
Greenwood Baptist Church. There will be breakfast at 8:30 am and the program will begin at 9 am. He noted 
that Sheriff Pope has stated that he will be there.  

Luke – None 

Presentations/Delegations:  None  

Regular Agenda: 

Old Business: None 
  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes June 27, 2019 – Called Meeting  
 

New Business: 
Adopt Solid Waste Curbside Fee for 2019 Tax Billing:  
Commissioner Henry made motion to hold the curbside fee to $150 per cart per year until next year, 
Commissioner Stunkel seconded, passed unanimously.  
 
Adopt Fire Protection Special District Fee for 2019 Tax Billing: 
 Commissioner Pennamon noted that county residents within 1000 ft. of a fire hydrant pays a fee of $28.63 per 
year. 
 
Commissioner Jernigan made e motion that the board approve the annual fee of $28.63 for the 2019 Tax Billing 
for Fire Protection Special District Fee, Commissioner Henry seconded, passed unanimously.  

Adopt FY 2020 Budget:  
Commissioner Pennamon noted that the budget amount for FY 2020 is $11,184,435.00.  
 
Commissioner Jernigan made motion that the board adopt Resolution #2019.06.27A calling for a FY 2020 
Budget with Expenditures of $11,184,435. Commissioner Henry seconded the motion, passed unanimously. 

Adopt BOC M&O Millage Rate and Hospital Millage Rate for 2019 Tax Billing:  
Commissioner Jernigan made motion that the board adopt Resolution #2019.06.27, authorizing the Jasper 
County Tax Commissioner to levy a Jasper County Wide M&O Millage Rate at the roll back rate of 15.412 and 
a Jasper County Wide Jasper Memorial Hospital Millage Rate at the roll back rate of .857. Commissioner 
Stunkel seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  
County Attorney Items: 
None 
 
County Manager Items:   
Mr. Benton stated that the Board of Education has not adopted their millage rate yet. We are looking to have a 
July 15th Called Meeting to accept their millage rate. Commissioner Pennamon suggested July 11th. 
 
Citizens Comments: None  
 
Executive Session:  None 
 
Adjourn: 
Comm. Stunkel made motion to adjourn at 6:15 p.m., Comm. Henry seconded; passed unanimously. 
 

___________________________ 

Carl Pennamon, Chairman 

 

___________________________ 

Clerk, Sharon Robinson 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes July 1, 2019 – Regular Meeting  
 

  Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

July 1, 2019 

Regular Meeting Minutes 

6:00 P.M. 

Comm. Pennamon called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

Commissioners Present: Chairman, Carl Pennamon, Vic-Chairman, Bruce Henry, Don Jernigan, Gerald 
Stunkel, and Doug Luke (arrived late) 

Staff Present: Mike Benton, County Manager, Finance Director, Dennis Pate, Sheila Belcher, Administrative 
Specialist, and County Attorney, David Ozburn.  

Pledge of Allegiance: 

Invocation: 

Don Jernigan, District 3 

Agenda Approval: 

Comm. Henry made motion approve the agenda as presented, Comm. Stunkel seconded; passed unanimously. 

Consent Agenda: 

Minutes:  

Comm. Jernigan made motion to approve the Called Meeting Minutes of May 13, 2019, Work Session Minutes 
of May 20, 2019, Work Session Minutes, June 3, 2019, Regular Meeting Minutes of June 3, 2019, and Work 
Session Minutes, June 10, 2019, Comm. Henry seconded; passed unanimously. 

Check Register: 

Comm. Jernigan made motion to approve the check register which included check #’s 55392 - 55645 for 
payment, Luke seconded; passed unanimously. 

Public Hearing: 

None 
 

Commissioner’s Items: 

Jernigan- Asked when work will resume on projects in the Northwest area of the county. 

 Preston Campbell replied that work will resume July 8th. 

Henry- Noted that Shady Dale will have a fireworks show on Thursday, July 4th. 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes July 1, 2019 – Regular Meeting  
 

Stunkel – None 

Pennamon- None 

Luke – Asked if there was any recent news on Pitts Chapel Bridge. He also noted that Countyline Road close to 
Jones Estate needs repair. He would like for the board to consider putting road bonds on the next agenda.  

Mr. Benton noted he received a call right before the meeting, spoke with the engineer. The engineer said that 
the project did let out. There were 5 bidders, the low bid was Gregory Bridge Company but it has not been 
awarded yet.    

Presentations/Delegations:  

Mark Hardison of Clifton, Lipford, Hardison, & Parker reviewed the FY 2018 CAFR. He noted that the county 
received an unmodified report which is the best opinion that can be received. The county has been in the GFOA 
Certificate of Excellence in Finance and reporting for a number of years. There were five findings in this report.  

Commissioner Luke motioned to accept the 2018 audit as presented. Commissioner Stunkel seconded; passed 
unanimously.  

Regular Agenda: 

Old Business:  

Right-of-Way Mowing Equipment Bid Award: 

Commissioners had discussion on the capability of each mower and tractor that was requested.  

Bids were discussed. Hays Tractor Representatives were in the room to discuss additional options for the 
requested vehicles. She also discussed how soon the tractors could be delivered and the process. After long 
discussion, Chairman Pennamon, suggested that we table the discussion while Hays pulled together additional 
information.  

Commissioner Stunkel motioned to approve up to $101,000 for two tractors with SPLOST funds, Commissioner 
Jernigan seconded; passed unanimously.  

Commissioner Henry motioned that we purchase the two mowers from Town and Country for the total amount 
of $27,630, Commissioner Jernigan seconded; passed unanimously. 

  
New Business: 

Alcovy Shores Water & Sewage Authority- New Board Member Approval: 

 Commissioner Jernigan made motion that the board approve the Alcovy Shores Water Authority’s 
recommendation for Janette Hyde to serve on the Alcovy Shores Water and Sewerage Authority Board for a term 
of four years beginning July 1, 2019. Commissioner Henry seconded, passed unanimously.  

Ocmulgee Circuit Public Defender’s Office-Georgia Indigent Defense Services Agreement:  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes July 1, 2019 – Regular Meeting  
 

Commissioner Henry made motion to approve the Chairman to execute the Georgia Indigent Defense Services 
Agreement for the period of July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 with an annual cost of $48,847.39 paid in monthly 
installments of $4070.62. Commissioner Stunkel seconded, passed unanimously.  

Senior Center-NEGRC Area Agency on Aging Contract- FY 2020:  

Commissioner Luke made motion to authorize Chairman to sign the contract with the Northeast Georgia Regional 
Commission, Area Agency on Aging, to provide services through the Jasper County Senior Center. Commissioner 
Jernigan seconded, passed unanimously.  

Senior Center- NEGRC Coordinated Transportation Contract- FY 2020:  

Commissioner Jernigan made motion to approve Chairman to sign the contract with the Northeast Georgia 
Regional Commission, Area Agency on Aging, to provide transportation services for elderly and disabled 
residents of Jasper County through the Jasper County Senior Center. Commissioner Henry seconded, passed 
unanimously.  

Senior Center- G.A. Food Service Contract – FY 2020:  

Commissioner Luke made motion to authorize Chairman to sign the contract as presented with G.A. Food Service 
of Pinellas County Inc.  for the purchase of meals under the requirements of Title III of the Older Americans Act, 
through the Jasper County Senior Center for the period July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2020. Commissioner Stunkel 
seconded, passed unanimously.  

Senior Center Budget Amendments- FY 2019 – Additional Funding from NEGRC AAA:  

Commissioner Jernigan made motion to approve the budget amendment increasing the Senior Center GL# 100-
600-06200-00053-535000 Facility Expansion Expenditure in the amount of $500 and increasing Senior Center 
GL#100-600-06200-00053-531100 General Supplies in the amount of $790.92 as presented. Commissioner 
Henry seconded, passed unanimously.  

Senior Center Budget Amendments- FY 2019 – CDBG Facility Expansion Expenditures:  

Commissioner Henry made motion that the board approve a budget amendment increasing the Senior Center GL 
Account #100-600-06200-00053-535000 Facility Expansion Expenditures in the amount of $17,700. 
Commissioner Luke seconded, passed unanimously.  

County Attorney Items: 

None 

County Manager Items: 

The Board of Education will complete their budget and millage work on Monday, July 8th. He noted that there 
should be a called meeting for July 11th.  
 
Citizens Comments:  
None 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes July 1, 2019 – Regular Meeting  
 

 
Executive Session: 

Comm. Jernigan made motion to go into Executive Session at 7:35 p.m. to hear comments from David Dyer 
regarding real estate. Commissioner Luke seconded; passed unanimously. 

Comm.  Jernigan made motion to come out of Executive Session at 7:53 p.m., Comm. Henry seconded; passed 
unanimously. 

Adjourn: 

Comm. Jernigan made motion to adjourn at 7:54 p.m., Comm. Stunkel seconded; passed unanimously. 

___________________________ 

Carl Pennamon, Chairman 

 

___________________________ 

Sheila Belcher, Administrative Specialist 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes July 11, 2019 – Called Meeting  
 

  Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

July 11, 2019 

Called Meeting Minutes 

6:00 P.M. 

Comm. Pennamon called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

Commissioners Present: Chairman, Carl Pennamon, Vice-Chairman, Bruce Henry, Don Jernigan, Gerald 
Stunkel, and Commissioner Doug Luke, joined late. 

Staff Present: Mike Benton, County Manager, Finance Director, Dennis Pate, Sharon Robinson, Clerk, and 
County Attorney, David Ozburn.  

Pledge of Allegiance: 

Invocation: 

Gerald Stunkel, District 4 

Agenda Approval: 

Comm. Henry made motion approve the agenda as presented, Comm. Stunkel seconded; passed unanimously. 

Consent Agenda: None 

Public Hearing: None 

Commissioner’s Items:  

Luke - questioned if Public Works go out to 250 Rainbow Drive to triple surface. It’s about a quarter mile.  

Pennamon - suggested charging the tree cutting at the new health department to buildings and grounds instead 
of to their budget. Wildfire industries gave a quote of $480 to do the flower beds and then revised it to $680, 
$50 a month.  

Presentations/Delegations: None 

Regular Agenda: None 

Old Business: None 

  
New Business: 

Adopt Jasper County Board of Education Tax Levy for 2019 Tax Billing:  

Commissioner Henry made motion to adopt Resolution# 2019-07-11 authorizing the Jasper County Tax 
Commissioner to levy a Jasper County Board of Education M&O Millage Rate of 17.990 for the 2019 Tax 
Billing, Commissioner Stunkel seconded, passed unanimously.  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes July 11, 2019 – Called Meeting  
 

Commissioner Pennamon noted that this will give the county a total 34.25 millage rate. 

Item 2: Sheriff Office Vehicles Lease Financing:  

Commissioner Jernigan made motion to authorize Chairman to sign resolution # 2019-07-11A for the lease 
purchase of four vehicles to be used by the Sheriff’s Office with VIN #’s 7447, 7448, 7449, and 5710. 
Commissioner Henry seconded, passed unanimously.  

Property Transfers to Development Authority of Jasper County: 

Commissioner Jernigan made motion to approve the transfer of 985 Hillsboro Street, Monticello to the 
Development Authority of Jasper County and for the Chairman to sign intergovernmental agreements related to 
the same, with the transfers being contingent on the signing of the intergovernmental agreements by both parties 
as well as the ability to transfer the properties. Commissioner Henry seconded, passed unanimously.  

Commissioner Jernigan made motion to approve the transfer of 336 E. Greene Street, Monticello to the 
Development Authority of Jasper County and for the Chairman to sign intergovernmental agreements related to 
the same, with the transfers being contingent on the signing of the intergovernmental agreements by both parties 
as well as the ability to transfer the properties. Commissioner Stunkel seconded, passed unanimously. 

County Attorney Items: None 

County Manager Items:  

Mike Benton noted that he spoke with GDOT who confirm that the contract for the Pitts Chapel Bridge contract 
did get awarded to Gregory Bridge Company. He also stated that the guy on Cook Road has been given an 
ultimatum until he removes the single wide.  

Citizens Comments:  
None 
 

Executive Session: 

Adjourn: 

Comm. Jernigan made motion to adjourn at 6:43 p.m., Commissioner Stunkel seconded; passed unanimously. 

 

___________________________ 

Carl Pennamon, Chairman 

 

___________________________ 

Sharon Robinson, Clerk 



 

 

Consent Agenda – Item 2: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:  August 5, 2019 
 
Subject:  Approval of Check Register 
 
Summary: 
A check register will be generated by the finance department on meeting day for signature and approval to 
process the checks. 
 
Background: 
 
Cost:  $0 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
Approve processing of check #’s 55646 - 55937 
 
 



 

 

Public Hearing: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Planning and Zoning 
 
Date:  August 5, 2019 
 
Subject: Nuisance Party/Nuisance Party Location Ordinance - First Reading 
 
Summary:  
 
This ordinance was written by the Sheriff’s Department to help them have more authority in controlling 
nuisance parties and to be able to control the premises at these locations and make it easier to order a cease and 
disperse. The Sheriff’s Department had the Magistrate judge, the County attorney and the solicitor look over the 
ordinance to make sure it covered all the legal matters. 
 

  



 

 

Chapter 28. 

Art. I.    Nuisance Party/ Nuisance Party Location Ordinance  

Div. 1. ‐  Definition:  

Nuisance party: A social gathering or party which is conducted on any premises within the County and which, by reason 

of the conduct of the persons in attendance, and results in any one or more of the following conditions or offenses 

occurring at the site of the said party or social gathering, or on neighboring public or private property: disorderly 

conduct; illegal open container; unlawful sale, furnishing, dispensing or consumption of beer or intoxicating liquor; sale 

or furnishing of beer or intoxicating liquor to an underage person; possession or consumption of beer or intoxicating 

liquor by an underage person; illegal use of a controlled substance; public indecency; littering; the damage or 

destruction of property without the consent of the property owner; unlawful pedestrian or vehicular traffic; standing or 

parking of vehicles that obstructs the free flow of traffic on the public streets and sidewalks or that impedes the ability 

to render emergency services; unlawfully loud noise; or any other conduct or condition that threatens injury, 

inconvenience, or alarm to persons or damage to property which is hereby declared to be an unlawful public nuisance.  

Div. 2. ‐ Duty to control premises.  

Any person who is an owner, occupant, tenant, or otherwise has rightful possession or possessory control, individually 

or jointly with others, of any premises, who either sponsors, conducts, hosts, invites, or permits a social gathering or 

party on said premises which is or becomes a nuisance party, as defined in Div. 1, and which nuisance is either the 

intentional result of, or within the reasonable expectations of, the person or persons having such possessory control is 

deemed to be in violation of this section.  

Any property owner, overseer, or other person having direct or indirect control of any property and who keeps and 

maintains, either by himself or others, a common, ill‐governed, and disorderly house or property, to the encouragement 

of gaming, drinking, or other misbehavior, or to the common disturbance of the neighborhood or orderly citizens, after 

having been placed on notice and made aware of such activity, either by officials of County Government or by Law 

Enforcement, is deemed to be in violation of this code section.  

Div. 3. ‐ Order to cease and disperse.  

Any Law Enforcement Officer who witnesses, at (or related to) a social gathering, any one of the enumerated offenses in 

Div. 2 or any other conduct or condition that threatens injury, inconvenience, or alarms to persons or damage to 

property, is authorized to declare the gathering a nuisance party. The officer will issue an order to disperse pursuant to 

Div. 3. 

A party or social gathering that is or becomes a nuisance party, as defined in Div. 1., shall cease upon the order of the 

Sheriff, or the Sheriff’s designee; and all persons not residing therein at the site of such social gathering or party shall 

leave the premises immediately. Any person who fails or refuses to obey and abide by such an order shall be guilty of a 

violation of this section.  

When the Sheriff’s Office issues an order to disperse, any person who fails to leave the party will, at minimum, be cited 

for violation of Div. 1. and may be subject to arrest for other violations, such as “Disorderly Conduct” or “Obstruction of 

an Officer”.  

Div. 4. ‐ Penalty.  

Whoever violates this section is guilty of misdemeanor.  

Continuation of any of the above actions on each new day constitutes a new and separate offense and the Magistrate 

Judge of the County shall impose such sentence as the circumstances may require.  



 

 

Any person who pleads guilty, nolo contendere, or is convicted for violation of this article, shall be punished as provided 

under OCGA 36‐1‐20 or such other general laws as may in the future be enacted to provide for the punishment and 

penalties that may be imposed by the Magistrate Courts of the State with the maximum fine of $1000.00 and/or 60 days 

in jail. In addition to the fine or confinement, the Judge may impose community service.   

  



 

 

New Business – Item 1: 
 
Agenda Request - Jasper County BOC 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Planning and Zoning 
 
Date: August 5, 2019 
 
Subject: Alcohol License application – Retail sales for Beer Hwy 16 Food Mart (formerly Sac-O-  
 Suds) Applicant- Ahmed Merchant, Corporation Name: Sean Hwy 16 Properties LLC 
 
Summary: 
  
The store has been closed approximately 10 months. Mr. Merchant is in the process of purchasing the property 
which is contingent upon him receiving his alcohol license for retail beer sales.  
                     
 
 
Background:  
 
Background check has been completed and there were no records. 
                         
   
 
Cost: 
 
None 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
Approve the alcohol license application #2019-A-011for retail sales of beer for Hwy 16 Food Mart as 
requested. 
  





 

 

New Business – Item 2: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: 911 Authority  
 
Date:   August 5, 2019 
 
Subject: 911 Authority Phone System Upgrade  
 
Summary:  
 
The Director for the Jasper County 911 Center, Betty Jump, will provide an update of the 911 Center phone 
system. 
 
Director Jump will cover the following 911 Center phone system considerations: 
History 
Outages 
Repairs 
911 Authority Board Recommendations 
 
 
 
Background: 
 
The Jasper County 911 center is currently operating with the Zetron 3200 system that has not been upgraded 
since 2008.  Since June 11th, the Center has had two emergency situations and have had to replace the Main ALI 
Controller Card and the Line Card Shelf both of which affected its 911 lines and the data associated with the 
911 information coming in with accurate information.  The system is obsolete and the more repairs that have to 
be completed to maintain the system, the more financial cost are accrued.  These repairs have been to maintain 
the current system only which we have been told that it is just a matter of time before the server crashes 
completely. None of the current replacement equipment meets the NexGen911 requirement.   

   
 
 
Cost:   
 
To be determined 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
Board Discretion 
  



 

 

New Business – Item 3: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:   August 5, 2019 
 
Subject: Approval to Advertise for Board Appointments: Central Georgia Region 5 Emergency   
 Medical Services Council and Oconee Community Service Board 
 
 
Summary:  
 
Staff is seeking approval to advertise for interested persons for the following County appointments: 
 
Central Georgia Region 5 Emergency Medical Services Council 
 
Oconee Community Service Board 
 
 
Background:  
 
Central Georgia Region 5 Emergency Medical Services Council: 
Current Representative – Fire Chief Chris Finch 
Term: 2016 – 2019 
 
Oconee Community Service Board: 
Current Representative – Ms. Roberta Anderson 
Term has expired 
 
 
 
Cost:   
 
 
None 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Authorize Staff to advertise the open appointment positions for the Central Georgia Region 5 Emergency 
Services Council and the Oconee Community Service Board. 
  









 

 

New Business – Item 4: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Senior Center 
 
Date:   August 5, 2019 
 
Subject: Senior Center Budget Amendments for FY 2019 
 
 
 
Summary:  
 
Senior Center FY 2019 Budget Amendments: 
 
Increase Expenditure GL# 523700 Education and Training - $680.00 
Increase Revenue GL# 334300 NGRC Reimbursement - $680.00 
 
Increase Expenditure GL# 534000 Program Expenditures - $1804.00 
Increase Revenue GL# 347500 Program Fees Collected - $1804.00. 
 
Increase Expenditure GL# 536000 Fundraiser Activity - $4397.00 
Increase revenue GL# 347550 Fundraiser Revenue - $4397.00 
 
Background:  
 
Senior Center received $680.00 from NEGRC AAA for training reimbursement. 
 
Senior Center received an additional $1804.00 in member donations greater than budgeted. 
 
Senior Center received an additional $4397.00 in fund raising revenue greater than budgeted. 
 
All monies have been received. 
 
 
Cost:   
 
None 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Approve the budget amendments totaling $6881.00 for the FY 2019 Senior Center Budget as presented. 
  



 

 

BUDGET AMENDMENT - # 2019-08-05A 
FOR FISCAL YEAR 2019 

 
 
 
 
Commission approved a budget for fiscal year 2019 for Jasper County Government earlier in the year; and  
 
WHEREAS, the budget is a dynamic rather than static revenue and spending plan which requires adjustment 
from time to time as circumstances change; and 
 
WHEREAS, these adjustments maintain a balanced budget for all funds; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the commission approves allocation of the Senior Center 
budget by the following:  
 
GL ACCOUNT- SENIOR CENTER      Debit  Credit 
100-600-06200-00052-523700 Education & Training                                     $680.00 
 
GL ACCOUNT- EQUITIES & OTHER CREDITS    Debit  Credit 
100-600-06200-00034-334300 NGRC Reimbursement   $680.00          

                   
 
 
Adopted this _______ of       2019. 
  Day   Month 
 
 
 
             
BOC Chair       Finance Manager 
 
  



 

 

BUDGET AMENDMENT - #2019-08-05B 
FOR FISCAL YEAR 2019 

 
 
 
 
Commission approved a budget for fiscal year 2019 for Jasper County Government earlier in the year; and  
 
WHEREAS, the budget is a dynamic rather than static revenue and spending plan which requires adjustment 
from time to time as circumstances change; and 
 
WHEREAS, these adjustments maintain a balanced budget for all funds; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the commission approves allocation of the Senior Center 
budget by the following:  
 
GL ACCOUNT- SENIOR CENTER     Debit  Credit 
100-600-06200-00053-534000 Program Expenditures                                 $1,804.00 
 
GL ACCOUNT- SENIOR CENTER     Debit  Credit 
100-600-06200-00034-347500 Program Fees Collected                           $1,804.00                            
 
 
Adopted this _______ of       2019. 
  Day   Month 
 
 
 
             
BOC Chair       Finance Manager 
 
 
  



 

 

BUDGET AMENDMENT - #2019-08-05C  
FOR FISCAL YEAR 2019 

 
 
 
 
Commission approved a budget for fiscal year 2019 for Jasper County Government earlier in the year; and  
 
WHEREAS, the budget is a dynamic rather than static revenue and spending plan which requires adjustment 
from time to time as circumstances change; and 
 
WHEREAS, these adjustments maintain a balanced budget for all funds; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the commission approves allocation of the Senior Center 
budget by the following:  
 
GL ACCOUNT- SENIOR CENTER     Debit        Credit     
100-600-06200-00057-536000 Fundraiser Activity                                       $4,397.00 
 
 
GL ACCOUNT- SENIOR CENTER     Debit        Credit     
100-600-06200-00034-347550 Fundraiser Revenue                                  $4,397.00 
  
 
 
 
 
 
Adopted this _______ of       2019. 
  Day   Month 
 
 
 
             
BOC Chair       Finance Manager 
 
 
 
  



 

 

New Business – Item 5: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Elections/Registrar 
 
Date:   August 5, 2019 
 
Subject: Intergovernmental Agreement – Board of Registrars and the City of Monticello 
 
 
Summary: 
 
The City of Monticello and the Jasper County Board of Registrars, will work together to conduct the November 
5, 2019 City General Election. E. R. Lanier will be the City’s Election Superintendent, with the County’s 
Election Superintendent assisting in a non-official capacity. 
 
The Jasper County Board of Commissioners will provide the Courthouse as the voting location venue to 
facilitate the November 5, 2019 election. 
 
 
 
 
Background: 
 
The County has conducted the Elections for the City since the implementation of the  
Electronic Voting Devices. 
 
 
 
 
Cost: 
 
The City of Monticello will be paying for all the procedures necessary to conduct the Election. 
 
No additional cost to the Jasper County Board of Commissioners. 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Authorize the Chairman to sign the Intergovernmental Agreement between the Board of Registrars of Jasper 
County and the City of Monticello for 2019 Election Services as presented. 
  







New Business – Item 6: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Recreation 
 
Date:   August 5, 2019 
 
Subject: Recreation Department Soft Drinks Marketing Proposals 
 
 
 
Summary:  
   Scoreboard Upfront Marketing Annual Marketing Annual Rebates 
 
Coca Cola:  
7 Year Contract  $17,572.00    $400.00  $1.00 per case 
5 Year Contract  $15,000.00    $400.00  $1.00 per case 
   
Pepsi Cola 5 Year Contract $10,000.00    $00.00   $5.00 per case 
 
Considerations: 
Estimated annual cases - 500 
Jasper County Recreation needs new scoreboards 
Value of existing signage with Coca Cola trademark – approximately $2000.00 
Vendor willingness to provide additional marketing support 
 
 
Background:  
 
Cola Cola and Pepsi Cola have offered soft drink marketing proposals to support the Jasper County 
Recreation Department. 
 
 
 
Cost:   
 
Total marketing revenue generated to be determined 
 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
Authorize Chairman to sign 7 year contract with Coca Cola with the marketing proposal as presented.  































Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Roads and Bridges 
 
Date:   August 5, 2019 
 
Subject: 2020 LMIG Application 
 
 
 
Summary:  
 
Staff needs project direction to develop a 2020 LMIG application to send to GDOT by the due date of 
December 31, 2019. The application must include a brief description and cost estimate of each LMIG 
project. Based on previous BOC action, it is anticipated the 2020 LMIG funds will be used to continue 
resurfacing or attempt to complete resurfacing of Post Rd. 
 
Resurfacing considerations: 
Patch and Overlay Applicability 
Full Depth Reclamation Applicability 
Current Resurfacing Pricing 
Maintain 22’ Width 
 
 
 
Background:  
 
GDOT 2020 LMIG Funding -  $613,916 
County 30% match -   $184,175 
Total 2020 LMIG Project -  $798,091 
 
Post Rd Paving Data -  
2015 LMIG   Asphalt Patch, Level and Asphalt Overlay  2.50 Miles 
2017 LMIG  Full Depth Reclamation and Asphalt Overlay 2.30 Miles 
2018 LMIG  Full Depth Reclamation and Asphalt Overlay 2.52 Miles 
 
Remaining length of Post Rd to be resurfaced -    4.10 Miles    
 
 
Cost:   
 
To be determined 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Staff needs a specific road designation to develop resurfacing options for the 2020 LMIG application. 












